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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

First Church of Christ, Lancaster, is a large two-story rectangular- 
shaped brick structure fronted by a projecting two-stage brick tower 
surmounted by a wood cupola, and by a giant arcaded and pedimented portico. 
The walls are laid in Flemish bond and the windows, arranged in two tiers, 
are topped by flat arches.

A description of the church, written in 1826, follows:

"The body of the building is 7^ by 66 feet, with a porch, portico, 
tower, and cupola. The portico is hQ by 17 feet, of square brick'columns, 
arched with pilasters, entablature, and pediment of the [Roman] Doric order; 
the vestibule, or porch, is U8 feet by 19 feet and contains the gallery 
stairs; the [second stage of the] tower is 21 feet square; the cupola is 
circular, and of singular beauty; - it is surrounded with a colonade of 12 
fluted pillars, with entablature, and cornice, of the [Roman] Ionic order; 
above which is an Attic encircled with a festoon drapery, the whole 
surmounted by a dome, balls, and vane. The height from the ground is about 
120 feet. [The wood volutes which ornament the corners of tower are another 
touch that was added by master builder Thomas Hearsey to the original 
design]. Inside, the front of the gallery is a ballustrade work, and is 
supported by ten fluted pillars of the Doric order, and has a clock in front, 
presented by a gentleman of the society. The pulpit rests on eight fluted 
columns, and four pilasters of the Ionic order: the upper section is 
supported by six Corinthian columns also fluted, and is lighted by a 
circular headed window, ornamented with double pilasters fluted; entablature 
and cornice of the Corinthian order; this is decorated with a curtain and 
drapery from a Parisian model, which, with the material, were presented by 
a friend; they are of rich green figured satin. A handsome Pulpit Bible 
was presented also by a friend, and a bell, weighing 1300 Ibs. was given by 
gentlemen of the town."

From the portico three doors, a tall center entranceway flanked by two 
lower ones, lead into the vestibule. The treatment of the doors is simple, 
all have beaded frames and 1 1/2 inch round molding in the angles of the _ 
frames and masonry. Set high in the brick wall above each entrance door is 
a white swag panel.

Inside the vestibule two staircases set near and parallel to the side 
walls ascend, bend in and meet halfway in a, common landing located above 
the center entranceway that leads into the audience room. At this point 
a broader stairway ascends towards the front of the tower to the second 
floor, passing at that level to the right and left and leading into 
the P-alleries. A narrow flight of stairs also continues on up to the belfry
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Designed by the noted Boston architect Charles Bulfinch in the 
Adamesque-Federal style and constructed by the master builder Thomas 
Hearsay in l8l6, First Church of Christ, Lancaster, is probably the finest 
of Bulfinch's existing New England churches. Its facade, with its two- 
stage brick tower topped by a beautifully proportioned wood cupola 
surrounded by Roman Ionic columns, and fronted by a giant arcuated portico, 
is especially noteworthy. Neither artificial lighting nor central heat 
have been introduced, and excepting for minor changes in the interior, the 
church remains substantially as built.

History

Construction of the First Church of Christ was ordered by vote of the 
town of Lancaster and the money was raised by assessing the pews. A 
building committee, comprised of three men, engaged Charles Bulfinch of 
Boston to prepare the plan and contracted with Captain Thomas Hearsey 
a master builder of Boston, to construct the church. The cornerstone was 
laid July 9> 1316; the structure was completed in 151 working days, ana 
dedicated in January 1, 1817. Total cost of construction was $19,088.66. 
Hearsey received $500 for his part of the project. The three coeval arches 
in the facade of the portico represent an "improvement" introduced by 
Hearsey to Bulfinch's plan, which had proposed one tall center arch flanked 
by two lower arches, with prominent swag panels above the lesser arches. 
Bulfinch's design of the arches was intended to reflect the unequal heights 
of the three vestibule doors behind them.

In 1867 an organ was installed in the gallery and by this date eight 
of the nine windows in the north (rear) wall, arranged in group of four 
in two tiers on either side of the pulpit, had been closed up. In 1881 the 
existing two-story, half-hexgonal-shaped, brick Thayer Memorial Chapel 
was added to the North end of the church, making the only alteration to 
the exterior of the structure. At this time the last window in the north 
wall, a central arched window located over the pulpit, was closed off, two 
doors were cut in the north wall to provide access to the new chapel, and 
four pews on either side of the pulpit were removed.
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7. Description: (l)

Three doors on the first floor of the vestibule open into the audience 
room. The gallery, which extends around the east, south, and west sides of 
the room, is enclosed with an open balustrade and curves in toward the 
south (front) end. The galleries are supported by fluted columns with Roman 
Doric capitals, with no bases, 10 feet 11 inches high and well-proportioned. 
There are no electric lights and the room is still heated by means of two 
stoves.

The pews are made of pine, stained cherry color. The side pews, k by 8 
feet, are in the old style of box pews, while those in the middle, 3 by 10 
feet, are of the slip type. The windows have inside blinds. The pulpit, 
painted white and set in the center of the north wall, stands on a platform 
U inches high, with Ionic columns 6 feet 5 1/2 inches high, or with a total 
height from the platform of 10 feet 8 inches. The paneling and 2 mahogany 
doors under the pulpit enclose a 25-inch space which contained until 1881 
the stairs to the pulpit. The two doors in the north wall were cut in l88l 
when the Thayer Memorial Chapel was added to the north end of the church and 
original arched window behind the pulpit was also closed off at that time.

The plaster walls and ceiling of the audience room were originally 
unadorned, except for the fine cornice. The existing wall panels with 
ornamented molding and the decorative plaster work of the ceiling were 
added in 1900. Except for the minor changes made in the north wall in l88l 
and the 1900 work, the interior is unaltered and the workmanship and 
material original.

In good condition, First Church of Christ, Lancaster, is still used for 
religious purposes. The structure is opened to visitors upon request.
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8. Statement of Significance:

Final changes were made to the interior in 1900. Based on the 
theory that Bulfinch would have provided more elaborate decorations 
for the interior if money had been available in l8l6, the walls and 
ceiling were ornamented in the style of Bulfinch's Massachusetts State 
House and in harmony with the pulpit. Existing wall panels with 
ornamented molding and the decorative plaster work on the ceiling date 
from this 1900 project.
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